Mishawaka: A History

by Peter J. De Kever

“We should always bear in mind that Mishawaka should be a distinct and separate
community with its own inspiration,” wrote Vincent Brunner, the city historian, in his manuscript
Mishawaka, Its Rise and Progress. Brunner was born in 1862, immigrated from Switzerland at
age 5, and spent the rest of his life in Mishawaka. For decades, he gathered stories and clippings
about the history of Mishawaka up to its centennial celebration in 1932 and wrote 137 essays that

comprised the book.

Though Brunner’s manuscript was never published, his research laid the foundation for
subsequent efforts to tell the story of Mishawaka. Brunner was a Mishawaka patriot and urged
his fellow citizens to resist anything that might surrender their city’s sovereignty or diminish its
identity. To that end, Brunner wanted Mishawakans to know their own history, to savor the city’s

rich traditions, and to “reverence the name Mishawaka.”

Ninety years later, the need to safeguard Mishawaka’s unique identity and to educate its
citizens about their collective past remains as profound as in Brunner’s time. With that intent, the
City of Mishawaka has commissioned this history of Mishawaka from its origins to the present

day.

The original residents of the land that became Mishawaka were the Potawatomi Indians,
the most populous tribe in the St. Joseph Valley. The Potawatomi had numerous villages in the

region, including one on the south bank of the St. Joseph River located in the area bounded today



by Lincolnway West and North Main and West Streets. The Potawatomi were drawn to this
location by the ease of transport the river provided, a ford near a natural rapids, abundant fish
and game, and access to timber. Their term for the area, M 'Shehwahkeek, translates as “swift

flowing water” or “heavy timbered rapids.”

The Potawatomi presence continued until about 1820, the year in which a smallpox
epidemic so horrified the Indians that they abandoned the area and never returned. In an 1821
treaty, the Potawatomi ceded five million acres in a strip of land ten miles south of the Indiana
state line, and subsequent treaties deprived them of the remainder of their land in the region.
Most Potawatomi moved to western lowa and later to Kansas. George Merrifield, a pioneer and
historian of early Mishawaka, later wrote that the Indians were said “to regard themselves as
exiles and to look back to the St. Joseph Valley-- from which they think they were wrongfully

ejected by our Government-- as the most desirable spot on earth.”

Knowledge of the Potawatomis’ life in the land later known as Mishawaka is fragmentary
because the Indians had been absent from the region for a decade before the first permanent

white settlers arrived in the area.

Prior to 1830, the St. Joseph Valley was largely inaccessible, except for the St. Joseph
River and Indian trails from Fort Wayne and Detroit. The region was not officially opened for
settlement until the late 1820s. Among the earliest white settlers in the immediate vicinity of
Mishawaka were Coe, Mote, and Skinner, who came in 1830. The Irelands and several other
families arrived the next year. Joseph Pemberton, Hart, and a Frenchman named St. Combe built
cabins near Mishawaka in 1831 and 1832. Historian Janice Bridges asserts that Pemberton’s
lathe, used to make chairs and bed posts, was the first manufacturing enterprise in the

Mishawaka area.



In 1832, Alanson Mead Hurd, an entrepreneur from Detroit, heard reports of significant
bog iron deposits in the St. Joseph Valley, where he hoped to construct a blast furnace to melt the
bog iron into pig iron for use in manufacturing. That summer, Hurd sent William Earl to scout
the best location to build an iron works. Earl found a large bog iron deposit near the “Twin
Branches,” three miles upriver from what is today downtown Mishawaka, as well as deposits

elsewhere in the area.

Later that year, Hurd traveled to St. Joseph County to purchase ore and water rights for a
blast furnace in the Twin Branches. When he saw the natural fall in the river near present-day
Central Park, he was convinced that the location’s waterpower potential made it a better site for
the iron works. Merrifield later noted, “The foresight and sagacity of Mr. Hurd were eminently

justified in the result.”

On January 1, 1833, Hurd purchased the 640 acres of School Section 16 for $1.25 an acre
and began constructing the iron works and other related buildings. At the heart of the iron works

was a blast furnace, which was ready for operation in early 1834.

As the blast furnace was built, the village of St. Joseph Iron Works was platted to the
south in the summer of 1833 and founded on July 15. Hurd sold most of the land he had bought

to developers eager to invest in a growing village.

In 1834, the iron works began producing pig iron, and orders began coming in from as far
north as the Grand River in Michigan and as far south as Indianapolis. Most of the iron was used
for castings, such as stoves, kettles, plows, and gears for mills. The rest of the pig iron was
shipped back to Detroit or used by local blacksmiths. Historian Merle Blue notes that from 1835-
1845 “Mishawaka was the largest center of heavy industry, not just in St. Joseph County, but in

the entire Great Lakes area west of Detroit.”



The year 1834 saw numerous firsts in the young settlement. In the spring, a post office
was established. Henry Yerrington, the first postmaster and Hurd’s clerk and bookkeeper,
suggested the settlement use the name “Mishawaka.” In the summer, the Presbyterian Church
was organized as the “First Presbyterian Trinitarian Society of the Village of St. Joseph Iron
Works,” and today the First Presbyterian Church remains the oldest continuously operating
organization in Mishawaka. A log schoolhouse was built, and Miss Sheldon was hired as the first
teacher in Mishawaka. In the autumn, Orlando Hurd constructed the Mishawaka Hotel, which
became known as the best hotel on the Vistula Road between Chicago and Toledo. The first
marriage performed in Mishawaka was for Thomas Dean and Julia Lincoln on April 3. The first

children born in Mishawaka were Indiana Yerrington and Charles Lucas.

Alanson Hurd, the Father of Mishawaka, was sole proprietor of St. Joseph Iron Works
until December 1834 when he formed the St. Joseph Iron Company with three other partners:

John Orr, John Deming, and J.E. Hollister. Hurd served as its first president.

On January 31, 1835, St. Joseph Iron Works became the first incorporated village in St.
Joseph County, even ahead of the slightly older settlement of South Bend four miles downriver.
Residents elected five village trustees.

The first Methodist church building was constructed in the fall of 1836 on the 200 block

of North Main Street.

Alanson Hurd's village covered approximately 40 square blocks south of the river,
bisected by the Vistula Road, the region's major east-west route. It was one of four adjacent
settlements under development in the mid-1830s. Joseph Battell and brothers James and Grove
Lawrence began an ambitious plan for creating Indiana City on the north bank of the river. To its

east lay Fowler's Addition, planned by George Fowler. South of the river and east of St. Joseph



Iron Works was Barbee Town, platted by William Barbee and Henry Harman. To avoid the
confusion of numerous municipalities, the Indiana state legislature consolidated all four of these

settlements into one “Mishawaka” on February 17, 1838.

In 1837, a dam across the river was built at the foot of Race Street, and a bridge was
constructed to the west, connecting the settlements on the north and south sides of the river. Also,
a road was built over the marsh that separated the town from the hills to the south. This gave
Mishawaka industry access to heavily wooded southern Penn and Madison Townships.
Merrifield later wrote, “The inexhaustible resources which this 'heavy timber' has afforded for
lumber, timber, coal, firewood, etc. has been of the highest importance to our town. Without this

much of our prosperity would have been an impossibility.”

Mishawaka’s population grew rapidly from just a hundred residents in 1834, mostly
workers and their families, to a population of 862 by decade's end. Among the newcomers to
Mishawaka was a group of 32 migrants who arrived from Brockport, New York, in 1837, known

subsequently as the “Brockport colony.”

Alanson Hurd was attracted to Mishawaka by its suitability for iron manufacturing, and
others followed with similar commercial motives. Travelers and settlers often also commented
on the area's natural beauty, a feature sometimes overlooked today. Merrifield gave this glowing
description in a series of nine newspaper articles in 1859, entitled “Mishawaka: Its Early History

and Present Condition”:

The St. Joseph is one of the most beautiful rivers of our country...The
country through which it passes is gently undulating and beautiful, being

a mixture of prairie openings and heavy timber land, generally of the most
fertile character. The purity of its waters, its uniform current, the
innumerable springs which line its banks, and the picturesque beauty of the

surrounding country all combine to produce a scene that excites the



imagination of the traveler.

Not everything was so appealing as this account suggests. Historian Ward Baker notes
that the streets of Mishawaka in the 1850s were clouds of dust in the summer and quagmires of
mud and water in winter. Until the Mishawaka Town Board passed an anti-hog ordinance in

1857, livestock roamed the streets freely.

Mishawaka grew steadily in the 1840s and had a population of 1,412 in 1850. A
commercial district developed in the four blocks surrounding the intersection of Main and
Second Streets, and numerous industries lined the north and south races, drawing upon the river
for power just as Hurd had expected. In addition to the St. Joseph Iron Company's operation,
other manufacturers included a distillery, blast furnace and machine shop, sawmill, flour mill,

and keelboat and steamboat builders.

The 1840s showed Mishawakans demonstrating their commitment to education. In the
mid-1840s, a well-regarded school opened in a former lard oil factory, known as the Lard Oil
Institute, but the town’s growth necessitated even better educational facilities. To that end, the
Mishawaka Academic and Normal Institute was built in 1845 at the south end of Main Street.
The red brick, two-story schoolhouse had three first-floor classrooms. On the second floor were
two recitation rooms and a large classroom that seated ninety. The Mishawaka Institute was
mainly an elementary school with some advanced classes offered for older students. George
Merrifield, himself a teacher in Mishawaka off-and-on for twenty years, proudly claimed, “It was
at the time the best school-house in Northern Indiana.” To serve children who lived north of the
river, a small brick schoolhouse was constructed on the west side of Main Street, near present-

day Broadway.

The faith life of Mishawaka residents was also nurtured in the 1840s. The Methodist and



Presbyterian congregations outgrew their old buildings and built new churches by the mid-1840s.
St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, which formed in 1837, opened its new church in 1843 at the
southwest corner of Spring and First Streets. Catholic Mass was first celebrated monthly in
Mishawaka in 1844 by priests from the University of Notre Dame. A former residence on Elm
Street was purchased in 1848 and became Church of the Holy Angels. The First Christian Church
of the Disciples of Christ met in a schoolhouse in Pleasant Valley northeast of town in 1840,
moved to another school building on East Second Street, and built a church on West Second
Street in 1850. The Evangelical Association began holding services in homes in the 1840s and
built a small church on East Third Street in 1856. The German Evangelical Lutheran Church was

organized in Mishawaka in 1847 and built a chapel near the intersection of Cedar and Broadway.

The early years of Mishawaka also saw several newspapers serve the community. The
Tocsin, the town’s first newspaper, was edited and published by Wilbur Storey. It was sold to
George Merrifield and soon purchased from him and moved to South Bend. The Bee, founded in
1846, was published for two years. The Free Democrat was created in 1848 to support Martin
Van Buren’s presidential candidacy, and it ceased publication after the election. None of these
early newspapers survived more than a year or two. More successful was the Free Press, founded
by D.C. Ireland in 1853. A couple years later, he sold the paper to L.A. Elliott, who changed the
name to the Mishawaka Enterprise. Now the oldest business in Mishawaka, the Enterprise

survives into the twenty-first century as a weekly newspaper.

The original bridge across the St. Joseph River was damaged by ice and replaced with a

300’-long red covered bridge that would stand from 1847 until an iron bridge was built in 1874.

One of the most significant events in Mishawaka’s history occurred on October 4, 1851,

when the railroad first arrived in town. The Michigan Southern Railroad had extended west from



Toledo to White Pigeon. To bring the railroad into Indiana, Judge Thomas Stanfield incorporated
the Portage Railroad, which connected White Pigeon to the state line. The railroad then built
westward across Indiana as the Michigan Southern & Northern Indiana Railway. The first train
to Mishawaka was comprised of three passenger coaches and a baggage car pulled by the
locomotive John Strycker, which was only the size of a small tractor, fueled with wood, and
braked manually. Bonfires blazed, cannons erupted, and the assembled crowd cheered mightily
when that first train chugged into town. By the following summer, the Michigan Southern &
Northern Indiana went to Chicago. Mishawakans were now on the railroad connecting Chicago
to New York. A ribbon of iron tied Mishawaka to the rest of the world and would open markets
for the town's fledgling industries, which were now less than 40 hours from East Coast cities.
Also in the 1850s, the Chicago and Grand Trunk Railway linked Mishawaka's north side

to Chicago and Detroit.

The railroad brought great excitement and commercial potential to Mishawaka in the
1850s, but it also provided the city’s greatest tragedy. On June 27, 1859, an eastbound train
carrying approximately 150 persons was traveling from Chicago on the Michigan Southern &
Northern Indiana and was due in Mishawaka at 11:27 p.m. Unbeknownst to the engineer, heavy
rains had washed out an embankment and stone culvert at the Springbrook Ravine, just west of
today's Ironwood Drive. The train, which included six passenger cars and the tender and baggage
cars, was traveling 25-30 m.p.h. when it plunged into the 30-foot deep, 100-foot wide chasm.
The engine and tender car plowed into the opposite bank, and all but one of the seven other cars
were smashed to pieces. At least 39 people were killed, either by the crash or drowning in the
raging waters, and 42 others were injured. Mishawakans were awakened about 12:30 a.m. by

ringing church bells that alerted the community to bring aid. People from Mishawaka and South



Bend rushed to the scene, but swift, deep water and darkness thwarted rescue efforts. The injured
were taken to nearby houses, and 32 dead were first laid out beside the track and later brought to
the Mishawaka depot until the bodies could be claimed. Fifteen victims were initially buried in
Mishawaka City Cemetery, and all but the Tidswell family-- a mother and her children-- were
later exhumed and taken by their families. Railroad service resumed after a stronger bridge was

built over the ravine.

Merrifield concluded his 1859 series for the Enterprise with two articles that inventory
the town's attributes during the 1850s. Mishawaka’s largest manufacturers in 1859 were a flour
mill and the Milburn Wagon Company. Other businesses included St. Joseph Iron Company, two
sawmills, a woolen factory, a plow manufacturer, a chair factory, and a brewery. The additional

establishments Merrifield cataloged included several milliner and tailor shops.

During the 1850s, Mishawaka was the picture of prosperity and potential, an ideal
business environment. The town's population grew to 1,688 in 1860, swelled by Irish and
German immigrants and other migrants, mostly New Yorkers and New Englanders. George
Merrifield notes Mishawaka was also “one of the most healthy localities in the country” with a

mortality rate in 1858 of just one percent.

Though the growing sectional conflict over slavery seemed far removed from daily life in
Mishawaka, residents participated in national events through newspapers and elections. The
Republican Party, founded in response to the Kansas-Nebraska Act of 1854, rapidly became the
dominant political party in Mishawaka and St. Joseph County. Archibald Beal, who purchased
the Mishawaka Enterprise in 1858, staunchly advocated preservation of the Union and supported
Republican candidates such as Abraham Lincoln and Oliver P. Morton. During the 1860

campaign, Mishawaka Republicans helped elect Morton as governor and the party’s entire state



ticket in October and delivered Indiana for Lincoln in the November election.

After news of Fort Sumter’s fall reached Mishawaka on April 15, 1861, citizens voiced
strong loyalty for the Union in a series of public meetings, a Soldiers Aid Society was organized,
and 42 men volunteered for the Army, joining 55 volunteers from South Bend to form an infantry
company. On April 19, over 300 Mishawakans accompanied the soldiers to South Bend, where
they left by train for Indianapolis. Three days later, the men were sworn into federal service as

Company I, 9" Indiana Regiment.

Mishawaka was firmly committed to preservation of the Union. A century later, Ward
Baker wrote, “Never in the four long years of war that lay ahead did the people of Mishawaka
turn away from the path they had chosen in November of 1860. For, having made their decision
to support the policies of the new Republican Party, they supported the war to save the Union

with their wealth, their blood, and their honor.”

On May 29, the 9" Indiana became the first regiment to leave Indiana for the front. It
arrived in Grafton, Virginia, on June 1 and was engaged in the surprise attack and pursuit of the
rebels there on June 3. The regiment later participated in Gen. George McClellan’s campaign in
western Virginia. In early and mid-July, the 9" saw action at Laurel Hill, Belington, and
Carrick’s Ford before returning to Indianapolis and mustering out of service on July 29. The
Mishawaka volunteers arrived home on July 31 and were welcomed with a large celebration and

picnic a few days later.

The Union’s humiliating defeat at the Battle of Bull Run in July 1861 was a reminder that
the conflict was far from over and that more manpower, sacrifice, and expense would be needed

to achieve victory.

In early August, James Houghton, a Mishawaka chair manufacturer, began recruiting men



for a three-year enlistment in a new 9" Indiana Regiment. His efforts and a large rally resulted in
70 men from Mishawaka and Penn Township enlisting in a new Company I, 9" Indiana Infantry,
which mustered into service in September. Houghton was elected captain. The 9" Indiana was
sent to Virginia, saw limited action that fall, and spent the winter at Cheat Mountain. The first

Mishawaka soldier to die was Robert Boyd, who succumbed to pneumonia.
Meanwhile, another group of Mishawaka volunteers became Company F of the 48"

Indiana Regiment, which mustered into service in December 1861. The 48" left for Kentucky in

February 1862.

The 9™ was sent to Tennessee and fought at Shiloh on April 7. Cpl. Jesse Miller and Pvt.
Daniel Ungry were killed charging a Confederate artillery battery, and Capt. Houghton, wounded

in the attack, died twelve hours later. They were Mishawaka's first combat deaths.

In the spring of 1862, the 48" helped seized Corinth, Mississippi, and the 9 drove

against Chattanooga, Tennessee.

More Mishawaka men enlisted that summer in Company K, 87™ Indiana Regiment,

which resisted the invasion of Kentucky in the fall of 1862.

The 9" fought at Stones River, Tennessee, in December, and the 48" besieged Vicksburg

in the spring and summer of 1863.

In September 1863, both the 9" and 87" participated in the Battle of Chickamauga. The
9 battled its way up Lookout Mountain in November, and the 87" did similarly at Missionary
Ridge.

Mishawaka soldiers in the 9", 48" and 87" participated in Gen. William T. Sherman’s

Atlanta campaign in the spring of 1864.



Meanwhile, more Mishawaka volunteers formed Company H, 138" Indiana Regiment in

May 1864, and they were sent to Tennessee before being discharged in the fall.

After Atlanta fell in September 1864, the 9" returned to Tennessee and saw action in the
Battle of Nashville in December. The 48" and 87™ marched to the sea with Sherman and served
in the Carolinas in early 1865. After the war concluded, both regiments participated in the Grand
Review in Washington, D.C., and were mustered out of service in June 1865. The 9" was
stationed along the Texas-Mexico border before it returned to Indianapolis on October 19. These

last Mishawaka soldiers came home on October 21.

To meet its manpower needs, the Union eventually resorted to drafting soldiers.
Mishawaka, though, always provided enough volunteers to meet its draft quotas, and no

Mishawaka or Penn Township man was drafted during the Civil War.

Of the 248 Mishawaka men who were three-year volunteers in the 9", 48", and 87
regiments, 14 were killed in action, and 48 died of wounds or disease. Two Mishawaka soldiers

died at the Confederates’ infamous Andersonville prison.

In addition to sending their loved ones off to military service, Mishawakans helped the
Union war effort in other ways, and the town thrived during the war years. Milburn Wagon
Company, one of Mishawaka’s major industries, fulfilled a government contract for 600 wagons.
Palmer & Worden’s Woolen Company was working at full capacity, and area farmers saw higher

prices and increased demand for their crops.

Mishawaka residents also participated in the contentious politics of the 1860s. In Indiana
and elsewhere in the North, there was often much opposition to the war. Those in Mishawaka
who held such a position, according to Janice Bridges, “were looked upon with great disfavor

and sometimes treated rather unkindly.” Mishawaka strongly supported President Lincoln and



the Republican Party during the war and for several years afterward. In the 1864 election,
Mishawaka voted overwhelmingly for Lincoln and continuing the Union war effort. Republican
Schuyler Colfax, a South Bend newspaper editor, represented the area in Congress and became
Speaker of the House in 1863. Colfax was popular among Mishawakans, who proudly cheered
his nomination as U.S. Grant’s vice-presidential running-mate at the 1868 Republican National

Convention and were thrilled by the ticket’s election that fall.

Like other communities, Mishawaka had offered the sacrifices of its dead and wounded
during the Civil War and endured the fears and uncertainties that were part of the conflict.
Otherwise undamaged from the war, Mishawaka ended the 1860s with prosperity and a much

larger population, growing from 1,488 residents in 1860 to 2,617 in 1870.

Population growth required that the town’s educational facilities keep pace. By 1868, the
Mishawaka Institute’s building had so deteriorated that it was unsafe and had to be demolished.
The next year, the town completed a replacement at the southwest corner of Hill and First
Streets. The elementary grades were in four classrooms on the first floor, and the high school
used three classrooms on the second floor, which also had the superintendent’s office. The
initially unfurnished third floor later became an auditorium named in honor of Joseph Whitson,
the town trustee who oversaw the school’s construction. The new building opened in December
1869 and was originally called “the Union School” because that year schools on both sides of the
river were first unified under one superintendent. A local newspaper stated, “The building is
unsurpassed by any of its kind in the State...The county may well consider this edifice one of its
ornaments. We of Mishawaka are proud of it.” Eventually, the building was simply known as
“the High School.” Though the name “Mishawaka High School” would be adopted a few years

later and the school’s location would change over the years, the unbroken lineage of this beloved



Mishawaka institution stretches from 1869 to the present.

Mishawaka citizens were almost exclusively white in the 1860s and 1870s, but a small
black community was beginning to grow. At its center was the family of Elijah and Mary Ann
Powell. Elijah was born in Owen County, Indiana, in 1841 and migrated to South Bend in 1858.
His father, Farrow, became one of the wealthiest black men in the county and was a founding
member of South Bend's black community. Elijah volunteered to join the 102nd U.S. Colored
Regiment during the Civil War and saw action primarily in South Carolina during 1864 and
1865. Recognized for gallantry, Powell rose to the rank of sergeant before the war's end. Elijah
married Mary Ann Hackley of Niles, and they moved to Mishawaka with their daughter Medora
in 1868. Barbering was Elijah's skilled trade, and he began 38 years of service to his adopted
hometown. Elijah and Mary Ann eventually had 14 children, and their family comprised much of
Mishawaka’s black population for several decades. The Powells earned the respect of their white
neighbors and lived harmoniously in a largely white community, establishing a tradition of

successful racial integration that continues into the twenty-first century.

Much of the country suffered during the depression that followed the Panic of 1873, but
Mishawaka’s economic challenges began sooner and unexpectedly when a horrible conflagration

destroyed a large portion of the downtown on September 5, 1872.

Perfect conditions made a great fire in Mishawaka almost inevitable: wood-frame
buildings, combustible material such as hay, open flames used for light and cooking, and
inadequate firefighting capability. The massive fire that broke out at 7:45 p.m. was also fueled by
hot, dry conditions and a strong wind. Southwest of Main and Second Streets stood the
Presbyterian Church. Behind it was the parsonage’s barn and, to the south, a barn owned by S.H.

Stevens. The blaze likely began in the Stevens barn and was spread by high winds to the



parsonage’s barn and then to the church itself. Fire devoured the block as residents sought vainly
to douse the flames with the town's hand-pump engine. Wind-whipped sparks caused the fire to
leap to the downtown's northwest and northeast blocks. One building after another ignited, filling
the sky with acrid smoke and an orange-red glow. Brave citizens tried extinguishing the blaze,
business owners threw goods into the street to avoid losing them in the flames, wagon drivers
carted the items to safety or purloined them, and others just gawked as Mishawaka burned. After
the smoke cleared, Mishawakans were stunned to see that 49 buildings had been lost. The
southeast block was spared, but charred ruins were largely what remained of parts of the other
blocks. Remarkably, there was no loss of life, and the factories along the north and south races--

the town's livelihood-- were untouched.

The Great Mishawaka Fire of 1872 was far from a death blow to the town. Instead,
encouraged by the optimism and energy of the Mishawaka Enterprise’s new owner and publisher
Edward Jernegan, Mishawaka quickly rebuilt. Just days after the fire, the town board passed an
ordinance prohibiting construction of wooden buildings in downtown, except for temporary
structures. Sounds of hammers and saws were soon heard amidst the ashes of what the fire had
destroyed. Within a year, 29 brick structures had been built in the downtown, including the aptly
named Phoenix Building, which still stands at the southwest corner of Lincolnway West and
South Main Street, just feet from where the devastating fire began. Another of these post-fire

buildings that survives today is the home of Doc Pierce’s Restaurant at 118-120 North Main.

In the fire’s aftermath, numerous manufacturers installed private water works or pumps
to safeguard their buildings from a catastrophic blaze. In the spring of 1874, a water main was
laid from the factories to the central business district, and a demonstration of the new water

works blasted streams of water into the sky. Spectators cheered, a bonfire was lit, and a band



added to the celebratory atmosphere. The Enterprise proudly proclaimed, “We have the best

water works (for the money) in the country.”

As Mishawaka was recovering from the disastrous fire, the town endured another terrible
loss. When Mishawaka officials refused to build a spur line connecting the Milburn Wagon
Company’s factory, located at Spring and Water Streets, to the railroad, George Milburn decided

to move his business to Toledo, and production here ceased in late 1874.

The Milburn Wagon Company leaving was not the end of Mishawaka, as some had
feared. In the spring of 1875, the Mishawaka Enterprise reported, “The removal of the Works
has been so gradual that it has hardly been felt, and the actual depression which Mishawaka feels

in their loss is nothing to what was predicted or expected.”

The growth of several other manufacturers in the 1870s helped cushion the blow from

Milburn’s departure and ensured that Mishawaka would remain a major center of industry.

The town’s oldest business, St. Joseph Manufacturing Company, survived the exhaustion
of local bog iron supplies in the 1850s and began specializing in steel plows and other
agricultural implements. The firm changed its name from St. Joseph Iron Company in 1868 and,
by 1874, was selling its products, which included the Scofield corn sheller and Mishawaka
Tongueless Cultivator, to an international clientele. By 1880, St. Joseph Manufacturing added

castings for columns and door plates to its product line, and it opened a new factory in 1882.

Another long-standing Mishawaka business, later known as Kamm & Schellinger
Brewing Company, was active during the 1870s. The company's origins lie with John Wagner,
who had operated a brewery and distillery in town since 1839. After his business burned in 1851,
he relocated to North Center Street two years later. In 1870, Wagner sold his interest to Clemens

Dick and Adolph Kamm, who formed the Dick & Kamm Brewery. A decade later, Dick sold his



share of the business to Kamm, who began a partnership with Nicholas Schellinger, Kamm's
brother-in-law and fellow German immigrant. The Kamm & Schellinger Brewing Company was
incorporated in 1887. Additions and modernizations to the complex began, including
construction of a boiler house to supply electricity, an ice house, and a carriage house.

What became Mishawaka’s most significant manufacturer also dates to the decade
following the Civil War. In 1868, Martin Beiger and his father, Jacob, purchased Palmer &
Worden's Woolen Mill and produced flannels and yarns. In 1874, the Beigers’ partnership ended,
and Mishawaka Woolen Company was incorporated with Martin Beiger serving as the first
president. Adolphus Eberhart and his son James joined the firm in 1878, and the company took
off in 1887 with the All-Knit Boot, which brought national sales and prominence. Putting a black
band with a red ball at the top of each boot led to the company's “Red Ball” and “Ball-Band”
trademarks, and Mishawakans began referring to the factory as “the Ball-Band.”

The Perkins Wind Mill Company was another prominent enterprise founded during the
post-Civil War era. Palmer “P.C.” Perkins started the business as an ax factory and operated it as
a sole proprietorship until he patented the Perkins Wind Mill and formed a partnership with his
twin brother, Pardon, in 1869. The business produced edge tools, pumps, and water tanks but
primarily manufactured wind mills. The Perkins Wind Mill & Ax Company was incorporated in
1873. Known for its wind mills' simple design and ease of maintenance, Perkins grew steadily,
selling 1,500 wind